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The year in review

Corporate Activity
The major corporate events of the year are 
summarised below.

5 July – Following negotiations with a third 
party, Copper Strike announced that it had 
received a superior offer from Kagara, upgrading 
their original hostile takeover offer of 11c per 
CSE share. The terms of the new Kagara offer 
were as follows:

•	 Kagara	Limited	to	buy	the	Einasleigh	Project	
for $16 million in cash and 

•	 Kagara	to	cancel	their	22.6	million	 
CSE shares.

13 July – Announced a challenge to the Board 
with a small group of Shareholders requisitioning 
a General Meeting to vote on the appointment 
of four new directors.

20 July – Released a Notice of Meeting, 
scheduled for 19 August, to vote on the four 
new proposed directors. 

21 July – Updated Shareholders on the proposed 
sale to Kagara and the Copper Strike Board’s 
plans for the Company after the sale. The key 
point of this announcement was that 14c per 
share would be returned to Shareholders if the 
proposed sale of the Einasleigh Project to Kagara 
Limited proceeded. 

8 August – Sir Ron Brierley announced that he 
had become a substantial Shareholder in Copper 
Strike with a 7.63% interest. Sir Ron’s interest 
subsequently increased to 9.60% on 12 August, 
15.56% on 25 August and 16.66% on 18 
September.

16 August – Signed the final agreement with 
Kagara Limited with the terms outlined above.

19 August – Challenge to the Board defeated 
by a Shareholder vote of 70 million shares to 
21 million shares for all of the requisitioned 
directors.

14 September – Notice of Meeting including 
an Independent Expert’s Report was issued to 
provide information for the Shareholders’ vote 
on the Kagara offer scheduled for 14 October. 
The three resolutions to be voted on were:

•	 The	sale	of	the	Einasleigh	Project	to	Kagara	
Limited for $16 million cash plus the 
cancellation of Kagara’s 22.6 million shares.

•	 The	selective	buy-back	(i.e.	cancellation)	of	
Kagara’s 22.6 million shares in Copper Strike 
at no additional cost.

•	 Return	of	capital	to	Shareholders	of	14	cents	
per share.

Corporate activity dominated Copper Strike’s past year as it did in the previous 
year. The takeover bid from Kagara Limited that was launched in September 
2010, was finally concluded with the sale of the Einasleigh assets to Kagara 
in December 2011. Most of the capital raised in this sale was returned to 
shareholders in January 2012. Since that time, Copper Strike’s share price has 
appreciated dramatically because of its large interest in the successful African 
explorer, Syrah Resources Limited. 
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14 october – All of the three resolutions 
listed above were passed by a show of hands 
at the Extraordinary General Meeting. Proxies 
were strongly in favour of all resolutions. At 
the meeting it was noted that the Board was 
evaluating a number of proposals for new 
projects that would effectively utilise the 
Company’s assets and expertise.

28 october – Notice of Meeting for the Annual 
General Meeting to vote on:

•	 The	adoption	of	the	Remuneration	Report

•	 The	re-election	of	Mr	Barrie	Laws	as	a	director	
of the Company

•	 The	appointment	of	Mr	Brad	Taylor	of	Grant	
Thornton as auditor.

18 November – Sir Ron Brierley transferred 
his 16.66% interest in Copper Strike across to 
associate company India Equities.

25 November – Announcement of the 
cancellation of Kagara’s 22,610,761 shares as a 
part of the divestment of the Einasleigh Project.

29 November – The Annual General Meeting 
approved all of the resolutions noted in the 
Notice of Meeting as listed above.

21 December – Copper Strike received funds 
from Kagara for its sale of its interest in the 
Einasleigh Project.

23 December – Announcement of Copper 
Strike’s acquisition of 2 million shares in Syrah 
Resources Limited at 15c per share increasing 
Copper Strike’s shareholding to 11 million shares.

6 January 2012 – Copper Strike mailed out the 
return of capital cheques to shareholders. This 
return of capital was 14c per share and totalled 
$15 million.

22 February – Announcement to the ASX that 
Kagara Limited’s 22,610,761 shares in Copper 
Strike had been cancelled.

23 February – The Company received a letter 
from the Australian Taxation Commission that 
confirmed Copper Strike’s opinion that the 14c 
per share capital return was not a dividend 
and is only taxable to the extent by which 14c 
exceeded the acquisition tax base.

16 April – Merchantile Investment Company 
Ltd, the company where Sir Ron Brierley’s 22.6 
million shares resided, sold its stake to a variety 
of investors through Shaw Stockbroking. 

19 April – The Company signed an agreement 
with Superior Resources Limited (SPQ) whereby 
SPQ would acquire Copper Strike’s 100% 
interest in the exploration ground covered by 
EPMA18985 in the Greenvale area of northeast 
Queensland for 1 million SPQ shares.

4 May – Copper Strike announced that it 
had entered into a conditional Term Sheet to 
purchase Syrah Resources Limited’s mineral sands 
exploration portfolio in Tanzania through a share-
based acquisition.

28 May – The Company announced that it 
would not proceed with the Tanzanian mineral 
sands acquisition because a rapid increase in the 
value of Copper Strike shares made this share-
based deal prohibitively expensive. 
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Exploration Activity
Exploration Licence EL5415 was granted to 
Copper Strike by the Victorian Department of 
Primary Industries early in 2012. Copper Strike 
applied for the ground because of high zircon 
values in past mineral sands drilling by Aberfoyle 
in the 1980’s which had identified extensive 
heavy mineral sands accumulations in paleo-
beaches and paleo-dune systems.

Figure 1 shows part of the Exploration Licence 
where the previous drilling took place. The 
larger coloured circles show where the best 
mineralisation was intersected. Interesting grades 
and thicknesses of heavy minerals (HM) were 
drilled on Lines CM01, CM02, KS00, KK60, 
KS04, KS05, KS06 and KS09. 

In addition, the area along the strike length of 
KK50, KK60, KK67 and KS21 is very interesting 
because of the high zircon content (often >15% 
of the heavy mineral concentrate) encountered 
on these lines. The highest zircon content of 
all (18.3% zircon) was achieved on drill line 
KK50. The assemblages of the HM concentrate 
on various lines are shown diagrammatically in 
Figure 3.

Figure 3 shows one of the better sections, KS06, 
from the Aberfoyle drilling. The zone is up to 
18m thick and is over 700m wide on this section. 
The grade is consistently over 1% HM and has 
some continuous zones of >3% material. The 
strike length, based on the current drill coverage 
and interpretation, is about 20km.

 

Potential for large tonnage, zircon-rich, heavy 
mineral sands, exists on EL5415 and can be 
assessed quickly with a short drill programme 
which is budgeted to cost approximately 
$70,000. Target areas will be in the zone from 
CM02 to KS06 and in the underexplored zircon-
rich trend from KK50 to KS21 which stretches  
for at least 30km.

The information in this report as it relates 
to geology, geochemical, geophysical and 
exploration results was compiled by Mr. Tom 
Eadie, FAusIMM, who is a Competent Person 
and Managing Director of Copper Strike.  
Mr. Eadie has more than 20 years of experience 
in the activities being reported on and consents 
to the inclusion of this information in the form 
and context in which it appears in this report.
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LEGEND LOCATION MAP

Figure 1: Northern part of EL5415 with the heavy mineral (HM) accumulations in old beach and dune 
systems identified by Aberfoyle’s drill lines from the 1980’s. Best drill lines appear to be KK50/51, 
CM01/02 and around KS04/05/06/09.
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Figure 2: Mineral assemblages from the Aberfoyle drilling on EL5415. The economic heavy minerals 
(zircon, rutile, leucoxene and ilmenite) average 75.1% of the HM assemblage with zircon, which 
ranges from 8.5% to 18.3% of the HM, averaging 14.3%. Rutile is low, generally <5%.

Line KS04 Line KK50 Line KK60

Line KK67 Lines CM01 & CM02

% of Heavy Minerals
 Ilmenite/Leucoxene

 Zircon

 Rutile

 Iron Oxides

LEGEND
% of Heavy Minerals
 0 - 1

 1 - 3

 3 - 5

 5 - 17.1

LEGEND



  CoppER StRikE LiMitED  AnnuAl RepoRt 2012

7 

Line KS04 Line KK50 Line KK60

Line KK67 Lines CM01 & CM02

% of Heavy Minerals
 Ilmenite/Leucoxene

 Zircon

 Rutile

 Iron Oxides

LEGEND
% of Heavy Minerals
 0 - 1

 1 - 3

 3 - 5

 5 - 17.1

LEGEND

Figure 3: Cross section for Line KS06 showing the heavy mineral concentrations in the eight drill holes on 
the line. Mineralisation ranges up to 18m thick and is at least 700m wide on this line. Some thick areas have 
moderate grade and good continuity. This zone shows strike continuity of about 20km in the licence area.
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Chairman’s Report
Dear Fellow Shareholders

Beginning with Kagara Limited’s bid for the 
Company in October 2010,  
Copper Strike has changed into a very different 
company with the focus now firmly on 
corporate matters at the expense of the vigorous 
exploration programmes that Copper Strike 
was famous for in the past. While the dearth of 
exploration activity is in some ways regrettable, 
the last two years has actually been a good time 
for Copper Strike shareholders. At the time of 
Kagara’s bid, the share price was languishing at 
8c. Since then, there has been a 14c per share 
return of capital to shareholders and the share 
price today is 19c.

Management’s focus over the past financial year 
has been on corporate activities, and this focus 
has paid dividends as noted above. The year 
started with the termination of an agreement 
with two well-credentialed Chinese companies, 
Taifeng and Jintai, who were looking to help 
develop the Einasleigh Project in conjunction  
with Copper Strike. The agreement was 
terminated because of a more immediately 
attractive, cash-based offer from Kagara Limited, 
whose nearby operations had synergy with the 
Einasleigh Project.

Following a Board challenge, which shareholders 
overwhelmingly rejected, the Kagara deal 
was approved by shareholders in October 
2011. Payment was received from Kagara in 
December 2011 and most of these proceeds 
were returned to shareholders through a 14c 
per share capital return in January 2012. This left 
Copper Strike with about $3 million in cash, a 
few exploration properties in north Queensland 
and 11 million Syrah shares (after buying an 

additional 2 million Syrah shares in December 
2011 at 15c per share). The most interesting 
part of these assets turned out to be the Syrah 
shares which appreciated from 8c per share at 
this time last year to today’s price of $2.34 per 
share, increasing the value of Copper Strike’s 
investment in Syrah from less than a million 
dollars to more than $25 million. This of course 
is the major factor in Copper Strike’s strong 
share performance and the Copper Strike Board 
believes that there is more upside potential, 
particularly at Syrah’s  huge, high quality graphite 
deposit in Mozambique.

The next major step for Copper Strike will be 
matched to our current assets which are: 1) the 
11 million Syrah shares, 2) $2.7 million dollars 
in cash and 3) exploration skills. Strategically 
Copper Strike’s objective is to acquire one or 
two highly attractive exploration projects that 
have the calibre to increase in value and lead 
to profitable development through effective 
exploration programmes. Choosing the right 
projects requires expertise and patience. To date 
no opportunities have been followed through 
to completion, other than the application for 
one mineral sand licence in Victoria. There is no 
hurry to complete a major deal because, at the 
moment, Copper Strike’s fortunes are heavily 
leveraged to Syrah Resources, which appears to 
have a bright future.

I would like to thank our Board, our supportive 
shareholders and all of our consultants who have 
helped make this year a success.

tom Eadie 
Executive Chairman



●

Likely developments and expected results of operations

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2012 that has significantly affected, or may significantly
affect the consolidated entity's operations, the results of those operations, or the consolidated entity's state of affairs in
future financial years.

During the financial year the principal continuing activities of the consolidated entity consisted of:
Exploration for base and precious metals, and investment activities.

Dividends

Environmental regulation

There were no dividends paid or declared during the current or previous financial year.

On 6 January 2012 the Company completed a Return of Capital to shareholders at $0.14 (14 cents) per share totalling
$14.9 million.

Review of operations

The profit for the consolidated entity after providing for income tax amounted to $2,065,697 (30 June 2011: loss of
$1,148,995).

Significant changes in the state of affairs

Copper Strike Limited

Principal activities

The following persons were directors of Copper Strike Limited during the whole of the financial year and up to the date
of this report, unless otherwise stated:

Directors' report

30 June 2012

Refer to separate detailed review of operations preceding this Director's report.

Information on likely developments in the operations of the consolidated entity and the expected results of operations
have not been included in this report because the directors believe it would be likely to result in unreasonable
prejudice to the consolidated entity.

The directors present their report, together with the financial statements, on the consolidated entity (referred to
hereafter as the 'consolidated entity') consisting of Copper Strike Limited (referred to hereafter as the 'company' or
'parent entity') and the entities it controlled for the year ended 30 June 2012.

Directors

There were no other significant changes in the state of affairs of the consolidated entity during the financial year.

On 17 August 2012 Superior Resources Limited (SPQ) issued 1,000,000 fully paid oridnary shares to Copper Strike
Limited (CSE) for consideration in relation to the announcement dated 19 April 2012 in which CSE agreed to abandon
its licence application EPMA 18985 to allow SPQ to proceed to grant. Under AASB5 the asset must be measured at
the lower of its carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. As at 30 June 2012 this asset was carried at $Nil
based on previous capitalised expenditure being written off.

Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year

The company holds participating interests in a number of mining and exploration tenements. The various authorities
granting such tenements require the tenement holder to comply with the terms of the grant of the tenement and all
directions given to it under those terms of the tenement. There have been no known breaches of the Company's
environmental conditions, and no such breaches have been notified by any government agencies during the year
ended 30 June 2012.

Mr Tom Eadie (Executive Chairman)
Mr John Dunlop (Non Executive Director)
Mr Barrie Laws (Non Executive Director)

During the year Copper Strike Limited (CSE) completed the sale of its Einasleigh project in North Queensland to
Kagara Limited for a cash sum of AU$16,000,000 and the cancellation of Kagara's 22.6 million CSE shares.
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Copper Strike Limited

Directors' report

30 June 2012

Royalco Resources Limited (resigned 23 November 2010)

Title:

Qualifications:

Other current directorships:
Former directorships (in the 
last 3 years):

Executive Chairman

Special responsibilities:

Non Executive Director Title:

None

B. Com, ACIS, CPA, SF Fin

None

Experience and expertise:

Other current directorships:

Name:

Information on directors

Tom Eadie has been executive chairman of the Company since its inception in 2004.
Prior to this role, Tom had twenty years experience within the junior resources sector,
including one year running Austminex NL, and at technical to senior Executive levels
with major mining companies including Pasminco, Aberfoyle Resources and
Cominco. At Pasminco, he was Executive General Manager - Exploration &
Technology for 11 years. At Aberfoyle, he began as Chief Geophysicist before being
put in charge of all mineral sands and base metal exploration. He is a past board
member of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy and the Australian
Mineral Industry Research Association. 

Tom has a B.Sc. (Hons) from the University of British Columbia, a M.Sc. in Physics
(Geophysics) from the University of Toronto and a Graduate Diploma in Applied
Finance and Investment from the Securities Institute of Australia (now the Financial
Services Institute of Australasia).
Syrah Resources Limited 

Special responsibilities:

Name:

Qualifications:
Experience and expertise:

None

Mr Barrie Laws

None
3,045,714 fully paid ordinary sharesInterests in shares:

Interests in options:

B.Sc (Hons). M.Sc., F.AusIMM, SA Fin

None
Interests in shares:
Interests in options:

Mr Tom Eadie

Barrie Laws has had extensive experience in investment management and general
management with Colonial Mutual, Equity Life and Norwich Union Life where he was
Chief Executive Officer when he retired from full time employment.

Barrie is a non executive director of Acorn Capital which is a major investor in listed
companies outside the 250 largest by market capitalisation. He is also Chairman of
Intrinsic Investment Management Pty Ltd, which is a significant investor in larger
listed companies.

None
None

Former directorships (in the 
last 3 years):
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Copper Strike Limited

Directors' report

30 June 2012

Attended Held
10 10 
9 10 

10 10 

Meetings of directors

Company secretary

'Former directorships (in the last 3 years)' quoted above are directorships held in the last 3 years for listed entities only
and excludes directorships in all other types of entities, unless otherwise stated.

The number of meetings of the company's Board of Directors held during the year ended 30 June 2012, and the
number of meetings attended by each director were:

Ms Leydin is a Charted Accountant and is a Registered Company Auditor. She Graduated from Swinburne University
in 1997, became a Chartered Accountant in 1999 and since February 2000 has been the principal of chartered
accounting firm, Leydin Freyer.

In the course of her practice she audits listed and unlisted public companies involved in the resources industry. Her
practice also involves outsourced company secretarial and accounting services to public companies in the resources
sector. This involves preparation of statutory financial statements, annual reports, half year reports, stock exchange
announcements and quarterly ASX reporting and other statutory requirements.

Ms Leydin has 20 years experience in the accounting profession and is a director and company secretary for a
number of oil and gas, junior mining and exploration entities listed on the Australian Securities Exchange.

Mr John Dunlop

Other current directorships:

Former directorships (in the 
last 3 years):

BE(Min), MEng Sc(Min), P Cert Arb., FAusIMM(CP), FIMMM, MAIME, MCIMM
John Dunlop is a consultant mining engineer with close to 40 years surface and
underground mining experience both in Australia and overseas spanning more than
25 countries. He is a former director of the Australasian Institute of Mining &
Metallurgy (AusIMM) and continues as chairman of its affiliate, the Mineral Industry
Consultants Association (MICA). 

Experience and expertise:

Special responsibilities: None

Non Executive Director 
Qualifications:

Chairman of Alliance Resources Limited
Chairman of Alkane Resources Limited

Chairman of Drummond Gold Limited (resigned 15 July 2010)
Non-executive director of Gippsland Ltd (resigned 12 July 2012)

Held: represents the number of meetings held during the time the director held office.

Interests in shares:

Title:

None
None

Mr Tom Eadie
Mr Barrie Laws

Full Board

Name:

Mr John Dunlop

'Other current directorships' quoted above are current directorships for listed entities only and excludes directorships
in all other types of entities, unless otherwise stated.

Interests in options:
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Copper Strike Limited

Directors' report

30 June 2012

A
B
C
D
E

●

●

●

●

●

●

●

●

●

Fees and payments to non-executive directors reflect the demands which are made on, and the responsibilities of, the
directors. Non-executive directors' fees and payments are reviewed annually by the Board. The chairman's fees are
determined independently to the fees of other non-executive directors based on comparative roles in the external
market. The chairman is not present at any discussions relating to determination of his own remuneration. 

Alignment to program participants' interests:

Non-executive directors remuneration

Additional information

Alignment to shareholders' interests:
has economic profit as a core component of plan design

Service agreements

The objective of the consolidated entity's and company's executive reward framework is to ensure reward for
performance is competitive and appropriate for the results delivered. The framework aligns executive reward with the
achievement of strategic objectives and the creation of value for shareholders, and conforms with the market best
practice for delivery of reward. The Board of Directors ('the Board') ensures that executive reward satisfies the
following key criteria for good reward governance practices:

The Board has structured an executive remuneration framework that is market competitive and complementary to the
reward strategy of the consolidated entity and company.

The Board is responsible for determining and reviewing remuneration arrangements for its directors and executives.
The performance of the consolidated entity and company depends on the quality of its directors and executives. The
remuneration philosophy is to attract, motivate and retain high performance and high quality personnel.

The consolidated entity and company aims to reward executives with a level and mix of remuneration based on their
position and responsibility, which is both fixed and variable.

Executive remuneration

The remuneration report, which has been audited, outlines the director and executive remuneration arrangements for
the consolidated entity and the company, in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and its
Regulations.

Remuneration report (audited)

Share-based compensation

Details of remuneration

The remuneration report is set out under the following main headings:
Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration

reflects competitive reward for contribution to growth in shareholder wealth

focuses on sustained growth in shareholder wealth, growth in share price, and delivering constant or
increasing return on assets as well as focusing the executive on key non-financial drivers of value

A     Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration

rewards capability and experience

attracts and retains high calibre executives

competitiveness and reasonableness
acceptability to shareholders

In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of non-executive directors and executive
remunerations are separate.

alignment of executive compensation
transparency

12



Copper Strike Limited

Directors' report

30 June 2012

●

●

●

Employee share option plan

The long-term incentives ('LTI') includes long service leave.

In determining the level and make-up of executive remuneration, the Board negotiates a remuneration to reflect the
market salary for a position and individual of comparable responsibility and experience. Due to the limited size of the
Company and of its operations and financial affairs, the use of a separate remuneration committee is not considered
appropriate. Remuneration is regularly compared with the external market by participation in industry salary surveys
and during recruitment activities generally. If required, the Board may engage an external consultant to provide
independent advice in the form of a written report detailing market levels of remuneration for comparable Executive
roles.

Voting and comments made at the company's 2011 Annual General Meeting ('AGM')
The company received 78% of 'for' votes in relation to its remuneration report for the year ended 30 June 2011. The
company did not receive any specific feedback at the AGM regarding its remuneration practices.

The combination of these comprises the executive's total remuneration.

base pay and non-monetary benefits
share-based payments

The number of options granted is determined by the Board.

The purpose of the plan is to provide eligible employees with an incentive to remain with the Company and to improve
the longer term performance of the Company and its return to shareholders. It is intended that the plan will enable the
Company to retain and attract skilled and experienced employees and provide them with the motivation to make the
Company more successful.

As at 30 June 2012 there were no options currently on issue under the plan.

Fixed remuneration, consisting of base salary, superannuation and non-monetary benefits, are reviewed annually by
the Board, based on individual and business unit performance, the overall performance of the consolidated entity and
comparable market remunerations.

The remuneration policy has been tailored to increase goal congruence between shareholders, directors and
executives. The achievement of this aim has been through the issue of options to directors and executives to
encourage alignment of personal and shareholder interests. The options provide an incentive to the recipients to
remain with the Company and continue to work to enhance the Company's value.

The executive remuneration and reward framework has four components:

other remuneration such as superannuation and long service leave

Copper Strike Limited operates an ownership-based scheme for executives and senior employees of the consolidated
entity. In accordance with the provisions of the plan, as approved by shareholders at a previous annual general
meeting, executives and senior employees may be granted options to purchase parcels of ordinary shares at an
exercise price determined by the Board. Each employee share option converts into one ordinary share of Copper
Strike Limited on exercise. No amounts are paid or payable by the recipient on receipt of the option. The options carry
neither rights to dividends nor voting rights. Options may be exercised at any time from the date of vesting to the date
of their expiry.

Executives can receive their fixed remuneration in the form of cash or other fringe benefits (for example motor vehicle
benefits) where it does not create any additional costs to the consolidated entity and adds additional value to the
executive.

Consolidated entity performance and link to remuneration

13



Copper Strike Limited

Directors' report

30 June 2012

Post-
employment Long-term Share-based

benefits benefits payments

Cash salary Non- Super- Long service Equity-
and fees Bonus monetary annuation leave settled Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

11,185  -   -  38,029  -   -  49,214 
48,096  -   -  1,119  -   -  49,215 

285,909  -   -  28,591  -   -  314,500 

84,018  -   -   -   -   -  84,018 
429,208  -   -  67,739  -   -  496,947 

*

**
***

Mr J Dunlop*

Amounts of remuneration
Details of the remuneration of the directors, other key management personnel (defined as those who have the
authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the major activities of the consolidated entity) and
specified executives of Copper Strike Limited are set out in the following tables.

Executive 
Directors:
Mr Tom Eadie

Mr John Dunlop invoiced his directors fees through his consulting company John S Dunlop & Associates Pty Ltd
for the period July 2011 to March 2012. From April 2012 to June 2012 he was paid as a PAYG employee.

Fees paid to Leydin Freyer Corporate Pty Ltd in respect of Company Secretarial and Accounting services.

2012

Ms M Leydin ***

Other Key 
Management 
Personnel:

B     Details of remuneration

Mr Barrie Laws fully salary sacrificed his salary for the period July 2011 to March 2012.

Short-term benefits

Mr B Laws**

Name

Non-Executive 
Directors:

14



Copper Strike Limited

Directors' report

30 June 2012

Post-
employment Long-term Share-based

benefits benefits payments

Cash salary Non- Super- Long service Equity-
and fees Bonus monetary annuation leave settled Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

12,304  -   -  36,911  -   -  49,215 
52,393  -   -   -   -   -  52,393 

285,909  -   -  28,591 14,209  -  328,709 

70,833  -   -   -   -   -  70,833 
14,000  -   -   -   -   -  14,000 

110,354  -   -  11,035  -   -  121,389 
545,793  -   -  76,537 14,209  -  636,539 

*
**

***

Key management personnel have no entitlement to termination payments in the event of removal for misconduct.

C     Service agreements

Mr D Ogg *

Mr Tom Eadie

2011 Short-term benefits

Managing Director
Name:
Title:

1 August 2005
Details:

Remuneration and other terms of employment for key management personnel are formalised in service agreements.
Details of these agreements are as follows:
 

Mr B Laws

Other Key 
Management 
Personnel:

Agreement commenced:

Mr T Eadie

(i) Mr Eadie may resign from his position and thus terminate this contract by giving 3
months written notice.
(ii) The Company may terminate this employment agreement by providing 12 months
written notice.
(iii) The Company may terminate the contract at any time without notice if serious
misconduct has occurred. Where termination with cause occurs the CEO is only
entitled to that portion of remuneration which is fixed, and only up to the date of
termination.
(iv) On termination of the agreement Mr Eadie will be entitled to be paid those
outstanding amounts owing to him up until the termination date.

Mr T Lees ***

There were no other service agreements with key management personnel.

Ms M Leydin **

Mr David Ogg resigned as Company secretary on 6 May 2011.

Mr Terry Lees resigned on 9 February 2011.

Ms Melanie Leydin was appointed as Company secretary on 6 May 2011. Fees paid to Leydin Freyer Corporate
Pty Ltd in respect of Company Secretarial and Accounting services.

Executive 
Directors:

Mr J Dunlop

Non-Executive 
Directors:

Name
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Copper Strike Limited

Directors' report

30 June 2012

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
$ $ $ $ $

586,719 200,672 102,654 1,439,780 1,947,451 
(255,281) (2,648,277) (1,206,614) (1,148,995) 854,302 
(255,281) (2,648,277) (1,206,614) (1,148,995) 2,065,697 

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

0.61 0.33 0.12 0.12 0.12 
0.33 0.12 0.12 0.12 0.22 

(0.31) (2.90) (1.14) (0.91) 1.76 
Share price at end of year
Share price at start of year

Basic earnings per share (cents per share)

Revenue

The factors that are considered to affect total shareholders return ('TSR') are summarised below:

Issue of shares
There were no shares issued to directors and other key management personnel as part of compensation during the
year ended 30 June 2012.

The company has indemnified the directors of the company for costs incurred, in their capacity as a director, for which
they may be held personally liable, except where there is a lack of good faith.

There were no options granted to or exercised by directors and other key management personnel as part of
compensation during the year ended 30 June 2012.

Net profit/(loss) before tax
Net profit/(loss) after tax

The earnings of the consolidated entity for the five years to 30 June 2012 are summarised below:

Shares under option

During the financial year, the company paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the directors of the company
against a liability to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The contract of insurance prohibits disclosure
of the nature of liability and the amount of the premium.

The company has not otherwise, during or since the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify the auditor of
the company or any related entity against a liability incurred by the auditor.

Indemnity and insurance of auditor

Options

Indemnity and insurance of officers

There were no options issued to directors and other key management personnel as part of compensation that were
outstanding as at 30 June 2012.

Shares issued on the exercise of options

There were no shares of Copper Strike Limited issued on the exercise of options during the year ended 30 June 2012.

During the financial year, the company has not paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the auditor of the
company or any related entity.

This concludes the remuneration report, which has been audited.

E     Additional information

D     Share-based compensation

There were no unissued ordinary shares of Copper Strike Limited under option outstanding as at 30 June 2012.
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Copper Strike Limited
Directors' report
30 June 2012

Auditor's independence declaration

Officers of the company who are former audit partners of Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd

Non-audit services

Melbourne

 

 
19 September 2012

Executive Chairman

________________________________
E T Eadie

On behalf of the directors

 
 

No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on
behalf of the company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the company is a party for the purpose of taking
responsibility on behalf of the company for all or part of those proceedings.

A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set
out on the following page.

There are no officers of the company who are former audit partners of Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd.

There were no non-audit services provided during the financial year by the auditor.

Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd continues in office in accordance with section 327 of the Corporations Act 2001.
Auditor

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of directors, pursuant to section 298(2)(a) of the Corporations Act
2001.
 

Proceedings on behalf of the company
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Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd 
ABN 91 130 913 594 
ACN 130 913 594 
 
Level 2 
215 Spring Street 
Melbourne Victoria  3000 
GPO Box 4984 
Melbourne Victoria 3001 
 

T +61 3 8663 6000 
F +61 3 8663 6333 
E info.vic@au.gt.com 
W www.grantthornton.com.au 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Grant Thornton Australia Limited is a member firm within Grant Thornton International Ltd. Grant Thornton International Ltd and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. Grant Thornton Australia Limited, together 

with its subsidiaries and related entities, delivers its services independently in Australia. 

 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 

 

 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 

To the Directors of Copper Strike Limited 

 

In accordance with the requirements of section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, as lead 

auditor for the audit of Copper Strike Limited for the year ended 30 June 2012, I declare 

that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

a no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 

2001 in relation to the audit; and 

b no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the 

audit. 

 
 
 

 

GRANT THORNTON AUDIT PTY LTD 
Chartered Accountants 

 
 
 

 

B. L. Taylor 

Partner - Audit & Assurance 

 
Melbourne, 19 September 2012 
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Copper Strike Limited 
Corporate Governance Statement 
30 June 2012 
 
The Board of Directors (‘the Board’) of Copper Strike Limited (the ‘company’) is responsible for the corporate 
governance of the consolidated entity. The Board guides and monitors the business and affairs of the company on 
behalf of the shareholders by whom they are elected and to whom they are accountable. 
 
The table below summarises the company's compliance with the ASX Corporate Governance Council's Revised 
Principles and Recommendations. 
 

Principles and 
Recommendations 

Compliance Comply 

Principle 1 – Lay solid foundations for management and oversight  

1.1 Establish the functions 
reserved to the Board and 
those delegated to manage 
and disclose those 
functions. 

The Board is responsible for the overall 
corporate governance of the company.  

The Board has adopted a Board charter that 
formalises its roles and responsibilities and 
defines the matters that are reserved for the 
Board and specific matters that are delegated 
to management. 

The Board has adopted a Delegations of 
Authority that sets limits of authority for senior 
executives. 

On appointment of a director, the company 
issues a letter of appointment setting out the 
terms and conditions of appointment to the 
Board. 

Complies. 

1.2 Disclose the process for 
evaluating the performance 
of senior executives. 

The Board meets annually to review the 
performance of executives. The senior 
executives’ performance is assessed against 
performance of the Company as a whole. 

Complies. 

1.3 Provide the information 
indicated in Guide to 
reporting on Principle 1. 

A Board charter has been disclosed on the 
company’s website and is summarised in this 
Corporate Governance Statement. 

A performance evaluation process is included 
in the Board Charter, which has been 
disclosed on the company’s website and is 
summarised in this Corporate Governance 
Statement. 

Complies. 

 

 
Complies. 
 
 
 
 

Principle 2 – Structure the Board to add value  

2.1 A majority of the Board 
should be independent 
directors. 

The majority of the Board’s directors are 
independent directors of the company.  

Mr Tom Eadie is the Executive Director and 
Chairman. 

Mr John Dunlop is an independent Non-
Executive Director. 

Mr Barrie Laws is an independent Non-
executive Director. 

Complies. 

2.2 The chair should be an 
independent director. 

Mr Tom Eadie is the Chairman and is not an 
independent Non-Executive Director. 

Whilst the Board recognises 
that it is desirable for the 
Chairman to be an 
Independent Director, the 
Company’s current size 
dictates that this is the most 
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Copper Strike Limited 
Corporate Governance Statement 
30 June 2012 
 

Principles and 
Recommendations 

Compliance Comply 

efficient mode of operation at 
the current time. The Board 
will review the appointment of 
an Independent Chairperson 
should the Company’s size 
and growth warrant this. 

2.3 The roles of chair and chief 
executive officer should not 
be exercised by the same 
individual. 

As noted, Mr Tom Eadie is the Executive 
Director and the Company Chairman. 

For similar reasons 
expressed in relation to 
recommendation 2.2, the 
existing arrangement is the 
most efficient mode of 
operation at the current time 
for the Company’s size. The 
Board will review the 
appointment of a separate 
Chairperson should the 
Company’s size and growth 
warrant this. 

2.4 The Board should establish 
a nomination committee. 

The company has not established a 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee.  

 

It is not a Company policy to 
have a nomination 
committee, given the size and 
scale of Copper Strike 
Limited. The role of a 
nomination committee is 
carried out by the full Board. 
The full board considers the 
appointment of new 
Directors, on an informal 
basis. The Board’s policy for 
the appointment of new 
Directors to the Board can be 
accessed at 
www.copperstrike.com.au.  

2.5 Disclose the process for 
evaluating the performance 
of the Board, its 
committees and individual 
directors. 

The company conducts the process for 
evaluating the performance of the Board, its 
committees and individual directors as outlined 
in the Board Charter which is available on the 
company’s website. 

The Board’s induction program provides 
incoming directors with information that will 
enable them to carry out their duties in the best 
interests of the company. This includes 
supporting ongoing education of directors for 
the benefit of the company. 

Complies. 

2.6 Provide the information 
indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 2. 

This information has been disclosed (where 
applicable) in the directors’ report attached to 
this Corporate Governance Statement. 

Mr John Dunlop and Mr Barrie Laws are 
independent directors of the company. A 
director is considered independent when he 
substantially satisfies the test for 
independence as set out in the ASX Corporate 
Governance Recommendations. 

Members of the Board are able to take 

Complies. 
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Copper Strike Limited 
Corporate Governance Statement 
30 June 2012 
 

Principles and 
Recommendations 

Compliance Comply 

independent professional advice at the 
expense of the company.  

Mr Tom Eadie, Executive Chairman, was 
appointed to the Board at incorporation of the 
Company in November 2004. 

Mr John Dunlop, Non-Executive Director, was 
appointed to the Board in November 2009. 

Mr Barrie Laws, Non-Executive Director, was 
appointed to the Board in October 2008. 

The Board has undertaken a review of the mix 
of skills and experience on the Board in light of 
the company’s principal activities and direction, 
and has considered diversity in succession 
planning. The Board considers the current mix 
of skills and experience of members of the 
Board and its senior management is sufficient 
to meet the requirements of the company. 

In accordance with the information suggested 
in Guide to Reporting on Principle 2, the 
company has disclosed full details of its 
directors in the director’s report attached to this 
Corporate Governance Statement. Other 
disclosure material on the Structure of the 
Board has been made available on the 
company’s website. 

Principle 3 – Promote ethical and responsible decision making  

3.1 Establish a code of 
conduct and disclose the 
code or a summary of the 
code. 

The Board has adopted a code of conduct. The 
code establishes a clear set of values that 
emphasise a culture encompassing strong 
corporate governance, sound business 
practices and good ethical conduct. 

The code is available on the company’s 
website.  

Complies. 

3.2 Companies should 
establish a policy 
concerning diversity and 
disclose the policy or a 
summary of that policy. 
The policy should include 
requirements for the Board 
to establish measurable 
objectives for achieving 
gender diversity and for the 
Board to assess annually 
both the objectives and 
progress in achieving 
them. 

The Board has undertaken a review of the mix 
of skills and experience on the Board in light of 
the company’s principal activities and direction. 

The Board has prepared a Diversity Policy that 
considers the benefits of diversity, ways to 
promote a culture of diversity, factors to be 
taken into account in the selection process of 
candidates for Board and senior management 
positions in the company, education programs 
to develop skills and experience in preparation 
for Board and senior management positions, 
processes to include review and appointment 
of directors, and identify key measurable 
diversity performance objectives for the Board, 
CEO and senior management. 

Complies. 
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Copper Strike Limited 
Corporate Governance Statement 
30 June 2012 
 

Principles and 
Recommendations 

Compliance Comply 

3.3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.4 

 

 

 

 

 

3.5 

Companies should disclose 
in each annual report the 
measurable objectives for 
achieving gender diversity 
set by the board in 
accordance with the 
diversity policy and 
progress towards achieving 
them. 

 

Companies should disclose 
in each annual report the 
proportion of women 
employees in the whole 
organisation, women in 
senior executive positions 
and women on the board. 

 

Provide the information 
indicated in Guide to 
reporting on Principle 3. 

The Company will report, where appropriate, in 
each annual report the measurable objectives 
for achieving gender diversity set by the Board. 

 

 

 

 

 

The Board currently comprises of 3 male 
Directors and one female in a senior 
management role being the Company 
Secretary. 

The total proportion of females in the company 
is 20% being 1 out of 5 employees. 

 

This information is available on the Company’s 
website. 

 

Complies 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Complies 

 

 

 

 

 

Complies 

Principle 4 – Safeguard integrity in financial reporting  

4.1 The Board should establish 
an audit committee. 

The Board has not established an audit and 
risk committee. 

The Board has not formed a 
separate audit committee 
given the size and scale of 
the Company.  The functions 
of an audit committee are 
performed by the whole 
Board.  All items that are 
dealt with by an audit 
committee are dealt with at 
Board meeting.  

4.2 The audit committee 
should be structured so 
that it consists of only non-
executive directors, a 
majority of independent 
directors, is chaired by an 
independent chair who is 
not chair of the Board and 
have at least 3 members. 

Refer to comments above under 4.1. Refer to comments above 
under 4.1. 

4.3 The audit committee 
should have a formal 
charter. 

Refer to comments above under 4.1. Refer to comments above 
under 4.1. 

4.4 Provide the information 
indicated in Guide to 
reporting on Principle 4. 

In accordance with the information suggested 
in Guide to Reporting on Principle 2, this has 
been disclosed in the directors’ report attached 
to this Corporate Governance Statement and is 
summarised in this Corporate Governance 
Statement. 

Refer to comments above under 4.1. 

Complies. 
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Copper Strike Limited 
Corporate Governance Statement 
30 June 2012 
 

Principle 5 – Make timely and balanced disclosure  

5.1 Establish written policies 
designed to ensure 
compliance with ASX 
Listing Rules disclosure 
requirements and to 
ensure accountability at a 
senior executive level for 
that compliance and 
disclose those policies or a 
summary of those policies. 

The company has adopted a continuous 
disclosure policy, to ensure that it complies 
with the continuous disclosure regime under 
the ASX Listing Rules and the Corporations 
Act 2001.  

This policy is available on the company’s 
website. 

Complies. 

5.2 Provide the information 
indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 5. 

The company’s continuous disclosure policy is 
available on the company’s website. 

Complies. 

Principle 6 – Respect the rights of shareholders  

6.1 Design a communications 
policy for promoting 
effective communication 
with shareholders and 
encouraging their 
participation at general 
meetings and disclose that 
policy or a summary of that 
policy. 

The company has adopted a shareholder 
communications policy. The company uses its 
website (www.copperstrike.com.au), annual 
report, market announcements, media 
disclosures and webcasting to communicate 
with its shareholders, as well as encourages 
participation at general meetings. 

This policy is available on the company’s 
website. 

Complies. 

6.2 Provide the information 
indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 6. 

The company’s shareholder communications 
policy is available on the company’s website. 

Complies. 

Principle 7 – Recognise and manage risk  

7.1 Establish policies for the 
oversight and management 
of material business risks 
and disclose a summary of 
these policies. 

The Company has established policies for the 
oversight and management of material 
business risks 
which is available at the corporate governance 
statement on the Company’s website at 

www.copperstrike.com.au under the 
“Corporate” tag which has the appropriate sub 
heading. 

Complies. 

 

7.2 The Board should require 
management to design and 
implement the risk 
management and internal 
control system to manage 
the company’s material 
business risks and report 
to it on whether those risks 
are being managed 
effectively. The Board 
should disclose that 
management has reported 
to it as to the effectiveness 
of the company’s 
management of its material 
business risks. 

The Board believes the risk management and 
internal control systems designed and 
implemented by the Directors and the Financial 
Officer are adequate given the size and nature 
of the Company’s activities. The Board 
informally reviews the internal control structure. 

Management has not formally 
reported to the Board as to 
the effectiveness of the 
Company’s management of 
its material business risks. 
Given the nature and size of 
the Company and the Board’s 
ultimate responsibility to 
manage the risks of the 
Company this is not 
considered critical. The 
Company intends to develop 
the risk reporting framework 
into a detailed policy as its 
operations continue to grow. 
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30 June 2012 
 

Principles and 
Recommendations 

Compliance Comply 

7.3 The Board should disclose 
whether it has received 
assurance from the chief 
executive officer and chief 
financial officer that the 
declaration provided in 
accordance with section 
295A of the Corporations 
Act is founded on a sound 
system of risk 
management and internal 
control and that the system 
is operating efficiently and 
effectively in all material 
respects in relation to the 
financial reporting risks. 

The Board has received a statement from the 
chief executive officer and chief financial officer 
that the declaration provided in accordance 
with section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 
is founded on a sound system of risk 
management and internal control and that the 
system is operating efficiently and effectively in 
all material respects in relation to the financial 
reporting risks. 

Complies. 

 

7.4 Provide the information 
indicated in Guide to 
reporting on Principle 7. 

The Company has established policies for the 
oversight and management of material 
business risks 
which is available at the corporate governance 
statement on the Company’s website at 

www.copperstrike.com.au under the 
“Corporate” tag which has the appropriate sub 
heading. 

Complies. 

Principle 8 – Remunerate fairly and responsibly  

8.1 The Board should establish 
a remuneration committee. 

The Board has not established a Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee and has not 
adopted a remuneration charter. 

It is not a Company policy to 
have a nomination 
committee, given the size and 
scale of Copper Strike 
Limited. The role of a 
nomination committee is 
carried out by the full Board. 
The full board considers the 
appointment of new 
Directors, on an informal 
basis. The Board’s policy for 
the appointment of new 
Directors to the Board can be 
accessed at 
www.copperstrike.com.au  

8.2 Clearly distinguish the 
structure of non-executive 
directors’ remuneration 
from that of executive 
directors and senior 
executives. 

The company complies with the guidelines for 
executive remuneration packages and non-
executive director remuneration. 

No senior executive is involved directly in 
deciding their own remuneration. 

Complies. 

8.3  Provide the information 
indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 8. 

The information has been disclosed in the 
Annual Report.  

Complies. 
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Copper Strike Limited 
Corporate Governance Statement 
30 June 2012 
 
Copper Strike Limited’s corporate governance practices were in place for the financial year ended 30 June 2012 
and to the date of signing the directors’ report. 
 
Various corporate governance practices are discussed within this statement. For further information on corporate 
governance policies adopted by Copper Strike Limited, refer to our website: www.copperstrike.com.au  
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Note 2012 2011

$ $

5 237,451 71,827 

6 1,710,000 1,367,953 

(799,535) (897,312)
(18,889) (3,707)

(251,920) (548,805)
7 (6,186) (28,434)

 -  (1,092,244)
(16,619) (18,273)

854,302 (1,148,995)

8 1,211,395  -  

2,065,697 (1,148,995)

16,156,008  -  

16,156,008  -  

18,221,705 (1,148,995)

Cents Cents

36 1.76 (0.91)
36 1.76 (0.91)

Gain on the revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets, net of tax
Other comprehensive income

Profit/(loss) after income tax benefit for the year attributable to the 

owners of Copper Strike Limited

Income tax benefit

Other income

Revenue

Impairment of asset held for sale
Depreciation and amortisation expense

Loss on sale of assets

Consolidated

Expenses

Exploration expenses written off

Copper Strike Limited

For the year ended 30 June 2012

Statement of comprehensive income

Administration expenses

Employee benefits expense

Profit/(loss) before income tax benefit

Diluted earnings per share
Basic earnings per share

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to the owners of 

Copper Strike Limited

The above statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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Copper Strike Limited 

Statement of financial position 

As at 30 June 2012 

 
  

Consolidated 

 
Note 2012 

 
2011 

  
$ 

 
$ 

     Assets 
    

     Current assets 
    Cash and cash equivalents 9 2,760,309  

 
3,142,175  

Trade and other receivables 10 96,899  
 

52,791  
Other current assets 11 3,449  

 
 -   

  
2,860,657  

 
3,194,966  

Assets of disposal groups classified as held for sale 12  -   
 

16,000,000  
Total current assets 

 
2,860,657  

 
19,194,966  

     Non-current assets 
    Available-for-sale financial assets 13 25,630,012  

 
 -   

Property, plant and equipment 14 2,648  
 

6,440  
Intangibles 15 256  

 
760  

Exploration and evaluation 16 68,584  
 

5,500  
Deferred tax 17 1,237,708  

 
 -   

Other non-current assets 18 7,680  
 

7,680  
Total non-current assets 

 
26,946,888  

 
20,380  

     Total assets 
 

29,807,545  
 

19,215,346  

     Liabilities 
    

     Current liabilities 
    Trade and other payables 19 70,437  

 
200,717  

Employee benefits 20 7,390  
 

50,496  
Total current liabilities 

 
77,827  

 
251,213  

     Non-current liabilities 
    Deferred tax 21 7,490,317  

 
 -   

Employee benefits 22 44,490  
 

32,654  
Total non-current liabilities 

 
7,534,807  

 
32,654  

     Total liabilities 
 

7,612,634  
 

283,867  

     Net assets 
 

22,194,911  
 

18,931,479  

     Equity 
    Issued capital 23 11,221,853  

 
26,180,126  

Reserves 24 16,156,008  
 

 -   
Accumulated losses 

 
(5,182,950) 

 
(7,248,647) 

  
  

 
  

Total equity 
 

22,194,911  
 

18,931,479  

      
 

 

 
The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes  
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Total

equity

$ $ $ $ $ $

25,202,526 243,783 (6,343,435) 19,102,874 

 -   -  (1,148,995) (1,148,995)

 -   -   -   -   -   -  

 -   -   -   -  (1,148,995) (1,148,995)

977,600  -   -  977,600 
 -  (243,783) 243,783  -  

 -   -  26,180,126  -  (7,248,647) 18,931,479 

Total

equity

$ $ $ $ $ $

26,180,126  -  (7,248,647) 18,931,479 

 -   -  2,065,697 2,065,697 

 -   -   -  16,156,008  -  16,156,008 

 -   -   -  16,156,008 2,065,697 18,221,705 

(14,958,273)  -   -  (14,958,273)

 -   -  11,221,853 16,156,008 (5,182,950) 22,194,911 

Transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners:

Balance at 30 June 2012

Return of Capital

Other comprehensive income 
for the year, net of tax

Profit after income tax benefit 
for the year

Total comprehensive income 
for the year

Balance at 1 July 2011

Copper Strike Limited

For the year ended 30 June 2012

Statement of changes in equity

Other comprehensive income 
for the year, net of tax

Contributed

equity

Total comprehensive income 
for the year

Contributions of equity, net of 
transaction costs
Lapse of options

Balance at 30 June 2011

Consolidated

Transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners:

Consolidated

Balance at 1 July 2010

Loss after income tax benefit 
for the year

Reserves profits

Retained

equity

Contributed

Reserves

Retained

profits

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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Note 2012 2011

$ $

(1,228,443) (1,336,956)
150,641 77,794 
54,691  -  

34 (1,023,111) (1,259,162)

(300,000)  -  
(1,890) (3,238)

 -  (809)
(98,592) (679,875)

16,000,000 2,500,000 

15,599,518 1,816,078 

(14,958,273)  -  

(14,958,273)  -  

(381,866) 556,916 
3,142,175 2,585,259 

9 2,760,309 3,142,175 

Payments for exploration and evaluation
Proceeds from sale of tenements 

Consolidated

Cash flows from operating activities

Interest received

Payments for property, plant and equipment

Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of GST)

Net cash used in operating activities

Copper Strike Limited

For the year ended 30 June 2012

Statement of cash flows

Other revenue

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for intangibles

Net cash used in financing activities

Payments for Return of capital

Payments for investments

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash flows from financing activities

Net cash from investing activities

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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Copper Strike Limited

30 June 2012

The financial report consists of the financial statements, notes to the financial statements and the directors'
declaration.

Copper Strike Limited is a listed public company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Its
registered office and principal place of business is:

Level 9

Notes to the financial statements

Note 1.  General information

The financial report covers Copper Strike Limited as a consolidated entity consisting of Copper Strike Limited and the
entities it controlled. The financial report is presented in Australian dollars, which is Copper Strike Limited's functional
and presentation currency.

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

A description of the nature of the consolidated entity's operations and its principal activities are included in the
directors' report, which is not part of the financial report.

Note 2.  Significant accounting policies

Telephone: (03) 9640 0955

Any new, revised or amending Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been
early adopted.

New Accounting standards and Interpretations 

Amendments to AASB 7‘Financial Instruments: Disclosure’ 

The following new and revised Standards and Interpretations have been adopted in the current year: 

The consolidated entity has adopted all of the new, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations
issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that are mandatory for the current reporting period.

AASB 1054 ‘Australian Additional Disclosures’ and AASB 2011-1 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
arising from Trans-Tasman Convergence Project’ 

The amendments (part of AASB 2010-4 ‘Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the
Annual Improvements Project’) clarify the required level of disclosures about credit risk and collateral held and
provide relief from disclosures previously required regarding renegotiated loans. 

Amendments to AASB 101 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ 

AASB 1054 sets out the Australian-specific disclosures for entities that have adopted Australian Accounting
Standards. This Standard contains disclosure requirements that are in addition to IFRSs in areas such as compliance
with Australian Accounting Standards, the nature of financial statements (general purpose or special purpose), audit
fees, imputation (franking) credits and the reconciliation of net operating cash flow to profit (loss). 

The amendments (part of AASB 2010-4 ‘Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the
Annual Improvements Project’) clarify that an entity may choose to present the required analysis of items of other
comprehensive income either in the statement of changes in equity or in the notes to the financial statements. 

New, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted

The financial report was authorised for issue, in accordance with a resolution of directors, on 19 September 2012.
The directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial report.

356 Collins Street
Melbourne Victoria 3000
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AASB 124 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ (revised December 2009) 

AASB 2011-1 makes amendments to a range of Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations for the purpose
of closer alignment to IFRSs and harmonisation between Australian and New Zealand Standards. The Standard
deletes various Australian-specific guidance and disclosures from other Standards (Australian-specific disclosures
retained are now contained in AASB. The application of AASB 1054 and AASB 2011-1 in the current year has
resulted in the simplification of disclosures in regards to audit fees, franking credits and capital and other expenditure
commitments as well as an additional disclosure on whether the Group is a for-profit or not-for-profit entity. 

AASB 124 (revised December 2009) has been revised on the following two aspects: (a) AASB 124 (revised
December 2009) has changed the definition of a related party and (b) AASB 124 (revised December 2009) introduces
a partial exemption from the disclosure requirements for government-related entities. The Company and its
subsidiaries are not government-related entities. The application of the revised definition of related party set out in
AASB 124 (revised December 2009) in the current year has resulted in the identification of related parties that were
not identified as related parties under the previous Standard. Specifically, associates of the ultimate holding Company
of the Company are treated as related parties of the Group under the revised Standard whilst such entities were not
treated as related parties of the Group under the previous Standard. The related party disclosures set out in note 24
to the consolidated financial statements have been changed to reflect the application of the revised Standard.
Changes have been applied retrospectively. 
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The application of AASB 2010-6 makes amendments to AASB 7 ‘Financial Instruments – Disclosures’ to introduce
additional disclosure requirements for transactions involving transfer of financial assets. These amendments are
intended to provide greater transparency around risk exposures when a financial asset is transferred and
derecognised but the transferor retains some level of continuing exposure in the asset. To date, the Group has not
entered into any transfer arrangements of financial assets that are derecognised but with some level of continuing
exposure in the asset. Therefore, the application of the amendments has not had any material effect on the
disclosures made in the consolidated financial statements. 

Parent entity information

Interpretation 114 addresses when refunds or reductions in future contributions should be regarded as available in
accordance with paragraph 58 of AASB 119; how minimum funding requirements might affect the availability of
reductions in future contributions; and when minimum funding requirements might give rise to a liability. The
amendments now allow recognition of an asset in the form of prepaid minimum funding contributions. The application
of the amendments to Interpretation 114 has not had material effect on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

AASB 2010-6 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures on Transfers of Financial Assets’ 

Standards and Interpretations affecting the reported results or financial position 

Note 2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

The application of AASB 2009-12 makes amendments to AASB 8 ‘Operating Segments’ as a result of the issuance of
AASB 124 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ (2009). The amendment to AASB 8 requires an entity to exercise judgement in
assessing whether a government and entities known to be under the control of that government are considered a
single customer for the purposes of certain operating segment disclosures. The Standard also makes numerous
editorial amendments to a range of Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations. The application of AASB
2009-12 has not had any material effect on amounts reported in the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

AASB 2009-14 ‘Amendments to Australian Interpretation – Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement’ 

The Standard makes numerous editorial amendments to a range of Australian Accounting Standards and
Interpretations. The application of AASB 2010-5 has not had any material effect on amounts reported in the Group’s

consolidated financial statements. 

AASB 2009-12 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards’ 

AASB 2010-5 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards’ 

The following new and revised Standards and Interpretations have been adopted in these financial statements. Their
adoption has not had any significant impact on the amounts reported in these financial statements but may affect the
accounting for future transactions or arrangements. 

Basis of preparation

The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the consolidated entity's accounting policies. The
areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in note 3.

Historical cost convention
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for, where applicable, the
revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets, financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss,
investment properties, certain classes of property, plant and equipment and derivative financial instruments.

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards
and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') and the Corporations Act 2001, as
appropriate for-profit oriented entities. These financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ('IASB').

Critical accounting estimates

In accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, these financial statements present the results of the consolidated
entity only. Supplementary information about the parent entity is disclosed in note 31.
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The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Copper Strike Limited
('company' or 'parent entity') as at 30 June 2012 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. Copper
Strike Limited and its subsidiaries together are referred to in these financial statements as the 'consolidated entity'.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between entities in the consolidated entity
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of
the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the consolidated entity.

Rent
Rent revenue from investment properties is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives
granted are recognised as part of the rental revenue. Contingent rentals are recognised as income in the period when
earned.

Operating segments

Operating segments are presented using the 'management approach', where the information presented is on the
same basis as the internal reports provided to the Chief Operating Decision Makers ('CODM'). The CODM is
responsible for the allocation of resources to operating segments and assessing their performance.

Principles of consolidation

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the consolidated entity has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies, generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one-half of the voting rights. The effects of
potential exercisable voting rights are considered when assessing whether control exists. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the consolidated entity. They are de-consolidated from
the date that control ceases.

Note 2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

All revenue is stated net of the amount of good and services tax (GST).

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefit will flow to the consolidated entity and the
revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.

Interest
Interest revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant period using the effective
interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Other revenue
Other revenue is recognised when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established.

Where the consolidated entity loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets including goodwill, liabilities
and non-controlling interest in the subsidiary together with any cumulative translation differences recognised in equity.
The consolidated entity recognises the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any investment
retained together with any gain or loss in profit or loss.

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. Refer to the 'business
combinations' accounting policy for further details. A change in ownership interest, without the loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction, where the difference between the consideration transferred and the book
value of the share of the non-controlling interest acquired is recognised directly in equity attributable to the parent.

Revenue recognition
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●

●

Cash and cash equivalents

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to apply when
the assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates that are enacted or substantively enacted,
except for:

The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable on that period's taxable income based on the
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable
to temporary differences and unused tax losses and the adjustment recognised for prior periods, where applicable.

Income tax

When the taxable temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or
interests in joint ventures, and the timing of the reversal can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities; and they relate to the same
taxable authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entity's which intend to settle simultaneously.

When the deferred income tax asset or liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting nor taxable profits; or

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, the head entity also recognises the current tax liabilities (or
assets) and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from controlled
entities in the tax consolidated group.

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term,
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts
of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

The carrying amount of recognised and unrecognised deferred tax assets are reviewed each reporting date. Deferred
tax assets recognised are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that future taxable profits will be available
for the carrying amount to be recovered. Previously unrecognised deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that there are future taxable profits available to recover the asset.

Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding agreements with the tax consolidated entities are recognised as amounts
receivable from or payable to other entities in the tax consolidated group. The tax funding arrangement ensures that
the intercompany charge equals the current tax liability or benefit of each tax consolidated group member, resulting in
neither a contribution by the head entity to the subsidiaries nor a distribution by the subsidiaries to the head entity.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Note 2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

Copper Strike Limited (the 'head entity') and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities have formed an income
tax consolidated group under the tax consolidation regime. The head entity and the controlled entities in the tax
consolidated group continue to account for their own current and deferred tax amounts. The tax consolidated group
has applied the group allocation approach in determining the appropriate amount of taxes to allocate to members of
the tax consolidated group.
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Investments and other financial assets

Non-current assets are not depreciated or amortised while they are classified as held for sale. Interest and other
expenses attributable to the liabilities of assets held for sale continue to be recognised.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or
have been transferred and the consolidated entity has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale and the assets of disposal groups classified as held for sale are
presented separately on the face of the statement of financial position, in current assets. The liabilities of disposal
groups classified as held for sale are presented separately on the face of the statement of financial position, in current
liabilities. 

Non-current assets or disposal groups classified as held for sale

Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any provision for impairment. Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within
30 days.

Investments and other financial assets are measured at either amortised cost or fair value depending on their
classification. Classification is determined based on the purpose of the acquisition and subsequent reclassification to
other categories is restricted. The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices. For unlisted
investments, the consolidated entity establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These include the use of
recent arms length transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow
analysis, and option pricing models.

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectable are
written off by reducing the carrying amount directly. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is raised when
there is objective evidence that the consolidated entity will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the
original terms of the receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or financial reorganisation and default or delinquency in payments (more than 60 days overdue) are
considered indicators that the trade receivable may be impaired. The amount of the impairment allowance is the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at
the original effective interest rate. Cash flows relating to short-term receivables are not discounted if the effect of
discounting is immaterial.

Trade and other receivables

Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any provision for impairment.

Note 2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets, principally equity securities, that are either
designated as available-for-sale or not classified as any other category. After initial recognition, fair value movements
are recognised directly in the available-for-sale reserve in equity. Cumulative gain or loss previously reported in the
available-for-sale reserve is recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised or impaired.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Non-current assets and assets of disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be
recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. They are measured at the lower
of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. For non-current assets or assets of disposal groups to be
classified as held for sale, they must be available for immediate sale in their present condition and their sale must be
highly probable.

An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or subsequent write down of the non-current assets and assets of
disposal groups to fair value less costs to sell. A gain is recognised for any subsequent increases in fair value less
costs to sell of a non-current assets and assets of disposal groups, but not in excess of any cumulative impairment
loss previously recognised.
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These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the consolidated entity prior to the end of the
financial year and which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature they are measured at amortised cost and are not
discounted. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

Exploration and evaluation assets

Software

Available-for-sale financial assets are considered impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in
value below initial cost. Subsequent increments in value are recognised directly in the available-for-sale reserve.

Property, plant and equipment

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the net cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment (excluding land) over their expected useful lives as follows:

Note 2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

The consolidated entity assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a
financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. Objective evidence includes significant financial difficulty of the
issuer or obligor; a breach of contract such as default or delinquency in payments; the lender granting to a borrower
concessions due to economic or legal reasons that the lender would not otherwise do; it becomes probable that the
borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; the disappearance of an active market for the
financial asset; or observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in estimated future cash flows. 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure in relation to separate areas of interest for which rights of tenure are current is
carried forward as an asset in the statement of financial position where it is expected that the expenditure will be
recovered through the successful development and exploitation of an area of interest, or by its sale; or exploration
activities are continuing in an area and activities have not reached a stage which permits a reasonable estimate of the
existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves. Where a project or an area of interest has been
abandoned, the expenditure incurred thereon is written off in the year in which the decision is made.

3-5 yearsPlant & Equipment

Intangible assets acquired as part of a business combination, other than goodwill, are initially measured at their fair
value at the date of the acquisition. Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at cost. Intangible
assets are subsequently measured at cost less amortisation and any impairment. The gains or losses recognised in
profit or loss arising from the derecognition of intangible assets are measured as the difference between net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the intangible asset. The method and useful lives of finite life intangibles are
reviewed annually. Changes in the expected pattern of consumption or useful life are accounted for prospectively by
changing the amortisation method or period.

Intangible assets

Significant costs associated with software are deferred and amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of their
expected benefit, being their finite life of 5 years.

Impairment of financial assets

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each
reporting date.

Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when there is no future economic benefit
to the consolidated entity. Gains and losses between the carrying amount and the disposal proceeds are taken to
profit or loss. Any revaluation surplus reserve relating to the item disposed of is transferred directly to retained profits.

Trade and other payables
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Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not
recoverable from the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition of the asset or as
part of the expense.

Note 2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

Wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave

Employee benefits

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave
expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in current liabilities in respect of
employees' services up to the reporting date and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the
liabilities are settled. Non-accumulating sick leave is expensed to profit or loss when incurred.

The liability for long service leave is recognised in current and non-current liabilities, depending on the unconditional
right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date. The liability is measured as the
present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the
reporting date using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary
levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using
market yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as
closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Long service leave

Goods and Services Tax ('GST') and other similar taxes

Diluted earnings per share

Basic earnings per share

Issued capital

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST
recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or other payables in the statement of
financial position.

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the owners of Copper Strike Limited,
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the
financial year.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the tax
authority.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority, are presented as operating cash flows.

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into
account the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary
shares and the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to
dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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New Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet mandatory or early adopted

None of the other standards, amendments or interpretations issued which are not yet effective are expected to affect
the financial statements.

Note 2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

(iii) AASB 11 Joint Arrangements
In August 2011 the Australian Accounting Standards Board issued AASB 11 to replace AASB131: Interests in Joint
Ventures (July 2004 as amended). AASB 11 requires joint arrangements to be classified as either "joint operations"
(whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets and obligations for the
liabilities) or "joint ventures" (where the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets
of the arrangement). Joint ventures are required to adopt the equity method of accounting (proportionate
consolidation is no longer allowed). This standard will have no impact on the Group's financial statements as at 30
June 2012 as at that time the Group is not a party to any joint arrangement.

(vi) AASB 10: Consolidated Financial Statements In August 2011 the Australian Accounting Standards Board issued
AASB 10 to replace parts of AASB127: Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (March 2008 as amended)
and Interpretation 112: Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities. AASB 10 provides a revised definition of control and
additional application guidance so that a single control model will apply to all investees. This standard will have no
impact on the Group's financial statements because the Group retains one hundred per cent ownership of all current
investees.

Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet
mandatory, have not been early adopted by the consolidated entity for the annual reporting period ended 30 June
2012. The consolidated entity's assessment of the impact of these new or amended Accounting Standards and
Interpretations, most relevant to the consolidated entity, are set out below.

(i) Interpretation 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Mine Issued in November 2011 Interpretation 20
clarifies those costs of removing mine waste materials (overburden) to access ore in a surface mine must be
capitalised as inventory under AASB 102 Inventories. This will have no impact on the Group's financial statements
because the Group does not operate a surface mine.

(ii) AASB 9 Financial Instruments Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (effective from 1 January
2015) In December 2009 the AASB issued a revised AASB 9 Financial Instruments. It is effective for accounting
periods on or after 1 January 2015. This amends the requirements for classification and measurement of financial
assets. On initial analysis this standard will have no impact on the Group's financial statements.

(iv) AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities In August 2011 the Australian Accounting Standards Board
issued AASB 12. AASB 12 contains the disclosure requirements applicable to entities that hold an interest in a
subsidiary, joint venture, joint operation or associate. AASB 12 also introduces the concept of a "structured entity",
replacing the "special purpose entity" concept currently used in Interpretation 112, and requires specific disclosures in
respect of any investments in unconsolidated structured entities. This standard will only affect disclosures and will
have no other impact on the Group's financial statements.

(v) AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement and Amendments to AASB 2011-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards arising from AASB 13 (effective 1 January 2013) In September 2011 the Australian Accounting Standards
Board issued AASB 13, it defines fair value, sets out in a single Standard a framework for measuring fair value and
requires disclosures about fair value measurements. On initial analysis this standard will have no impact on the
Group's financial statements.
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Exploration and evaluation

The consolidated entity measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value
of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by using either the
Binomial or Black-Scholes model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the instruments were
granted. The accounting estimates and assumptions relating to equity-settled share-based payments would have no
impact on the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting period but may impact profit
or loss and equity.

The fair value of financial instruments classified as Level 3 is determined by the use of valuation models. These
include discounted cash flow analysis or the use of observable inputs that require significant adjustments based on
unobservable inputs.

Income tax

Note 3.  Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and
estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases its
judgements, estimates and assumptions on historical experience and on other various factors, including expectations
of future events, management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting accounting
judgements and estimates will seldom equal the related actual results. The judgements, estimates and assumptions
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year are discussed below.

Recovery of deferred tax assets

Share-based payment transactions

The consolidated entity determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges for
its property, plant and equipment and finite life intangible assets. The useful lives could change significantly as a
result of technical innovations or some other event. The depreciation and amortisation charge will increase where the
useful lives are less than previously estimated lives, or technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold will be written off or written down.

Estimation of useful lives of assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences only if the consolidated entity considers it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

As discussed in note 1, the liability for long service leave is recognised and measured at the present value of the
estimated future cash flows to be made in respect of all employees at the reporting date. In determining the present
value of the liability, estimates of attrition rates and pay increases through promotion and inflation have been taken
into account.

Long service leave provision

The consolidated entity is subject to income taxes in the jurisdictions in which it operates. Significant judgement is
required in determining the provision for income tax. There are many transactions and calculations undertaken during
the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The consolidated entity
recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on the consolidated entity’s current understanding of the
tax law. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the carrying amounts, such differences will
impact the current and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

At each reporting period the directors review the carrying amount of exploration and evaluation expenditure for the
indicators of impairment outlined in AASB 6.
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2012 2011

$ $

180,560 71,827 
55,547  -  
1,344  -  

 -   -  237,451 71,827 

2012 2011

$ $

 -  1,367,953 
1,710,000  -  

 -   -  1,710,000 1,367,953 

Net gain on disposal of tenements

Interest revenue - bank deposits 
Rent

Gain on loss of significant influence 

Revenue

Consolidated

Consolidated

Copper Strike Limited lost its significant influence in Syrah Resources Limited on 16 December 2011 due to Syrah
issuing 60,000,000 oridnary shares in the Company as part of the consideration for its acquisition of Jacana
Resources Limited.

The investment in Syrah Resources Limited had previously been equity accounted for in prior years, and therefore
had a $Nil value as at 30 June 2011.

Under AASB 139 the investment in Syrah Resources Limited has been designated as available for sale and has been
valued at fair value with subsequent movements being recognised directly to equity through the available for sale
reserve.

The consolidated entity is organised into one operating segment which consists of exploration for base and precious
metals, with the emphasis on copper and copper-gold mineralisation within Australia. This operating segment is
based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by the Board of Directors (who are identified as the Chief
Operating Decision Makers('CODM')) in assessing performance and in determining the allocation of resources.

Other revenue

Note 4.  Operating segments

Note 5.  Revenue

Identification of reportable operating segments

Note 6.  Other income

Other revenue

Other income

Due to Syrah Resources Limited issuing 84,529,516 ordinary shares during the year ended 30 June 2012, Copper
Strike's percentage holding has been diluted and is no longer deemed to hold significant influence in Syrah. The
above amount was recognised in the profit and loss upon initial recognition of the investment at fair value.
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2012 2011

$ $

(5,682) (26,620)

(504) (1,814)

 -   -  (6,186) (28,434)

(68,029) (86,067)

31,270 (1,317)

 -  (18,889) (3,707)

Amortisation

Consolidated

Plant and equipment

Profit/(loss) before income tax includes the following 
specific expenses:

Total depreciation and amortisation

Depreciation

Note 7.  Expenses

Software

Defined contribution plans

Exploration costs written off

Post employment benefit plan

Charges to provisions
Employee entitlements

41



Copper Strike Limited

30 June 2012

Notes to the financial statements

2012 2011

$ $

5,531,420  -  
(2,361,030)  -  

1,123,758  -  
25,877  -  

(5,531,420)  -  

 -   -  (1,211,395)  -  

854,302 (1,148,995)

256,291 (344,699)

80,639 883,102 
 -  2,521 

1,299,828  -  
25,877  -  

 -   -  1,662,635 540,924 

 -  (1,477)
 -  (114,338)
 -  (62,657)
 -  (201,068)
 -  (161,384)

(2,361,030)  -  
(513,000)  -  

 -   -  (1,211,395)  -  

Aggregate income tax benefit

Profit/(loss) before income tax benefit

Note 8.  Income tax benefit

Numerical reconciliation of income tax benefit and tax at 
the statutory rate

Initial recognition of deferred tax balances
Deferred tax expense/(income) relating to the origination 
and reversal of temporary differences
Tax losses cancelled
Benefit of prior year losses

Consolidated

Current tax

Income tax benefit

Exploration expenditure

Non-assessable income

Recognition of carry forward losses

Tax effect amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) in 
calculating taxable income:

Assessable gain on disposal of subsidiary/mining 
tenements

Other deductible expenses
Capital raising costs

Tax at the statutory tax rate of 30%

Adjustment to deferred tax balances as a result of change 
in statutory tax rate

Initial recognition of deferred tax balances

Non-deductible expenses
Other assessable income

Tax losses cancelled

Income tax benefit

Deferred tax balances have been recognised for the first time in the year ended 30 June 2012. This has been done
due to the likely capital gains tax payable in relation to the consolidated entity's investment in Syrah Resources
Limited (SYR). 

During the year a gain of $1,710,000 has been recognised on initial recognition of Copper Strike's share holding in
Syrah plus a further subsequent revaluation increment of $23,620,012.

The capital gain payable on this amounted to $7,464,004, and a deferred tax liability has been recognised. A deferred
tax asset of $1,237,708, predominently made up of $1,156,616 in tax losses has also been recognised.

The tax effext of the revaluation increment has been taken through the available for sale reserve. For this reason an
income tax benefit of $1,211,395 has been recognised in the current year.
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2012 2011

$ $

 -  141,965 

 -  2,175,896 
 -  37,673 

 -   -   -  2,355,534 

2012 2011

$ $

100 550 
1,395,666 2,431,311 
1,364,543 710,314 

 -   -  2,760,309 3,142,175 

2012 2011

$ $

60,898  -  
29,999 16,225 
6,002 36,566 

 -   -  96,899 52,791 

Other receivables

Note 10.  Current assets - trade and other receivables

Trade receivables

Consolidated

Note 9.  Current assets - cash and cash equivalents

No receivables have been impaired or provided for as at 30 June 2012.

Consolidated

Cash on hand

Tax losses (revenue or operating losses after 
deduction of DTL)

Temporary differences

Deferred tax assets not recognised

Total deferred tax assets not recognised

Tax losses (capital)

GST receivable

Cash at bank
Cash on deposit

Deferred tax assets not recognised comprises temporary 
differences attributable to:

Nature of tax funding arrangements and tax sharing agreements

Copper Strike Ltd and its wholly owned subsidiaries have formed a tax consolidated group with effect from 1 July
2006 and are therefore taxed as a single entity from that date. The head entity within the tax consolidated group is
Copper Strike Ltd.

Consolidated

Note 8.  Income tax benefit (continued)

Entities within the tax consolidated group have not entered into a tax funding arrangement nor a tax sharing
agreement with the head entity.

For the reasons outlined above, the deferred tax asset has been recognised in full in the current year. Refer to note
17 for further detail.

Relevant of tax consolidation to the consolidated entity
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 Note 10.  Current assets - trade and other receivables (continued) 

 Past due but not impaired 
Customers with balances past due but without provision for impairment of receivables amount to $2,200 as at 30 
June 2012 ($Nil as at 30 June 2011). 
 
The consolidated entity did not consider a credit risk on the aggregate balances after reviewing credit terms of 
customers based on recent collection practices. 
 
The ageing of the past due but not impaired receivables are as follows: 

 
    

Consolidated 

      
2012 

 
2011 

      
$ 

 
$ 

         Over 6 months overdue 
     

2,200  
 

 -   

  
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 Note 11.  Current assets - other 

 
    

Consolidated 

      
2012 

 
2011 

      
$ 

 
$ 

         Prepayments 
     

3,449  
 

 -   

  
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 Note 12.  Current assets - assets of disposal groups classified as held for sale 

 
    

Consolidated 

      
2012 

 
2011 

      
$ 

 
$ 

         Exploration and evaluation 
     

 -   
 

16,000,000  

  
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

On 21 December 2011 the Consolidated entity received $16,000,000 in cash for the sale of its interest in the 
Einasleigh project to Kagara Limited. The disposal of the Einasleigh project was approved by shareholders at the 
general meeting on 14 October 2011. 
 
On 19 April 2012 CSE entered into an agreement with Superior Resources Limited (SPQ) for SPQ to acquire its 
rights to a licence application held in North Queensland in exchange for being issued with 1 million fully paid 
ordinary shares in SPQ. Under AASB5 the asset must be measured at the lower of its carrying amount and fair 
value less costs to sell. As at 30 June 2012 this asset was carried at $Nil based on previous capitalised 
expenditure being written off. 
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2012 2011

$ $

25,630,012  -  

 -   -  
300,000  -  

1,710,000  -  
23,620,012  -  

 -   -  25,630,012  -  

2012 2011

$ $

81,732 79,841 
(79,084) (73,401)

 -   -  2,648 6,440 

 -   -  2,648 6,440 

Note 13.  Non-current assets - available-for-sale financial assets

Refer to note 25 for further information on financial instruments.

Ordinary shares

The initial recognition was recognised in the profit and loss. Under AASB139 the investment in Syrah Resources
Limited has been valued at fair value with subsequent movements being recognised directly to equity through the
available for sale reserve.

The revaluation increment of $23,620,012 has occured due to the increase in the Syrah Resources Limited share
price over the past 12 months. As at 30 June 2012 Syrah's share price closed at $2.33 (30 June 2011: $0.12)

Reconciliation

Revaluation increments

Opening fair value

Initial gain on recognition

Reconciliation of the fair values at the beginning and end 
of the current and previous financial year are set out 

Additions

On 22 December 2011 the Consolidated entity purchased 2,000,000 ordinary shares in Syrah Resources Limited at a
purchase price of $0.15 cents per share ($300,000), increasing Copper Strike's holding in Syrah Resources Limited to
11,000,005 ordinary shares or 9.61%. 

Due to Syrah Resources Limited issuing 84,529,516 ordinary shares during the year ended 30 June 2012, Copper
Strike's percentage holding has been diluted and is no longer deemed to hold significant influence in Syrah. 

Copper Strike Limited lost its significant influence in Syrah Resources Limited on 16 December 2011 due to Syrah
issuing 60,000,000 ordinary shares in the Company as part of the consideration for its acquisition of Jacana
Resources Limited. 

The investment in Syrah Resources Limited had previously been equity accounted for in prior years, and therefore
had a $Nil value as at 30 June 2011.

Closing fair value

Consolidated

Plant and equipment - at cost
Less: Accumulated depreciation

Note 14.  Non-current assets - property, plant and equipment

Consolidated
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Total
$ $ $ $ $ $

 -   -   -   -  48,095 48,095 
 -   -   -   -  3,238 3,238 
 -   -   -   -  (18,273) (18,273)
 -   -   -   -  (26,620) (26,620)

 -   -   -   -  6,440 6,440 
 -   -   -   -  1,890 1,890 
 -   -   -   -  (5,682) (5,682)

 -   -   -   -  2,648 2,648 

2012 2011

$ $

42,006 42,006 
(41,750) (41,246)

 -   -  256 760 

 -   -  256 760 

Total
$ $ $ $ $ $

 -   -   -   -  1,765 1,765 
 -   -   -   -  809 809 
 -   -   -   -  (1,814) (1,814)

 -   -   -   -  760 760 
 -   -   -   -  (504) (504)

 -   -   -   -  256 256 

  

Additions

Note 15.  Non-current assets - intangibles

      

Amortisation expense

Consolidated

Reconciliations

Balance at 1 July 2010

  

Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set
out below:

  

Additions

  

Balance at 30 June 2011

Software

Less: Accumulated amortisation

Balance at 30 June 2012

  

Depreciation expense

Disposals

    

Additions

  

Balance at 30 June 2011

Equipment
  

  

Balance at 1 July 2010

  

Depreciation expense

  

Balance at 30 June 2012

Plant &

Consolidated

  

Reconciliations

Software - at cost

Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set
out below:

Note 14.  Non-current assets - property, plant and equipment (continued)

Consolidated

Amortisation expense
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2012 2011

$ $

68,584 5,500 
 -   -  68,584 5,500 

 -   -  68,584 5,500 

Total
$ $ $ $ $ $

 -   -   -   -  16,656,023 16,656,023 
 -  1,574,848 1,574,848 

(1,132,047) (1,132,047)
 -  (1,092,244) (1,092,244)
 -  (1,080) (1,080)

(16,000,000) (16,000,000)

 -   -   -   -  5,500 5,500 
 -  65,773 65,773 
 -  (2,689) (2,689)

 -   -   -   -  68,584 68,584 

Write off of assets

Reconciliations

Disposals

Transfers in/(out)

Impairment of assets

Consolidated

Balance at 30 June 2011

Write off of assets

assets

Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set
out below:

Balance at 30 June 2012

Exploration &
evaluation

Note 16.  Non-current assets - exploration and evaluation

Costs carried forward in respect of areas of interest in 
exploration and evaluation phase

Expenditure during the year

Consolidated

Expenditure during the year

In the prior year the exploration assets were impaired to fair value less costs to sell due to the proposed sale of the
Einasleigh tenement. The non-current asset after impairment was transferred to the current asset - disposal group
classified as held for sale. This transaction was completed during the current year.

Balance at 1 July 2010
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2012 2011

$ $

1,156,616  -  
18,466  -  
6,270  -  

56,356  -  

1,237,708  -  

2012 2011

$ $

7,680 7,680 

2012 2011

$ $

21,681 170,052 
48,756 30,665 

 -   -  70,437 200,717 

2012 2011

$ $

7,390 50,496 

Employee benefits

Refer to Note 8 for further information regarding the recognition of the above deferred tax asset.

Note 20.  Current liabilities - employee benefits

Employee entitlements

Consolidated

Refer to note 25 for further information on financial instruments.

Trade payables

Note 17.  Non-current assets - deferred tax

Other payables

Consolidated

Note 19.  Current liabilities - trade and other payables

Consolidated

Consolidated

Deposits paid

Note 18.  Non-current assets - Other non-current assets

Deferred tax asset

Amounts recognised in profit or loss:

Capital raising costs
Accrued expenses

Deferred tax asset comprises temporary differences 
attributable to:

Tax losses
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2012 2011

$ $

17,337  -  
8,976  -  

7,464,004  -  

7,490,317  -  

2012 2011

$ $

44,490 32,654 

2012 2011 2012 2011

Shares Shares $ $

106,844,810 129,455,571 11,221,853 26,180,126 

No of shares Issue price $

116,455,571 25,202,526 
13,000,000 $0.08 977,600 

129,455,571 26,180,126 
(22,610,761)  -  

 -  (14,958,273)

106,844,810 11,221,853 

Consolidated

Return of capital (2)

Consolidated

Interest receivable
Exploration expenditure

30 June 2012

Note 21.  Non-current liabilities - deferred tax

Employee entitlements

Consolidated

Deferred tax liability

Refer to Note 8 for further information regarding the recognition of the above deferred tax liability.

Investments

Note 22.  Non-current liabilities - employee benefits

Details

On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll
each share shall have one vote.

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on the winding up of the company in
proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. The fully paid ordinary shares have no par value.

Ordinary shares

Balance

Deferred tax liability comprises temporary differences 
attributable to:

Consolidated

Date

Balance

Note 23.  Equity - issued capital

17 September 2010

Canellation of shares (1)
30 June 2011
21 December 2011

1 July 2010

Ordinary shares - fully paid

Issue of shares

Balance

Movements in ordinary share capital

31 December 2011

Amounts recognised in profit or loss:
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2012 2011

$ $

16,156,008  -  

Total
$ $ $ $ $ $

 -  243,783 243,783 
(243,783) (243,783)

 -   -   -   -   -   -  

23,620,012  -  23,620,012 

(7,464,004)  -  (7,464,004)

 -   -   -  16,156,008  -  16,156,008 

(1) In addition to the $16,000,000 Kagara paid for the Einasleigh tenements, Kagara also returned all of the shares
that it held in the Company.  These shares were then cancelled.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the consolidated entity may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

(2) On 6 January 2012 the consolidated entity returned $14,958,273 million to shareholders through a 14 cent per
share return of capital. The return of capital was approved by shareholders at the general meeting held on 14 October
2011.

The consolidated entity's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimum capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

Share buy-back

Note 23.  Equity - issued capital (continued)

Balance at 1 July 2010

Capital risk management

paymentsale
Share based 

Revaluation of available for 
sale investments

Note 24.  Equity - reserves

Available-for-sale reserve

Consolidated

Available for

Available-for-sale reserve
The reserve is used to recognise increments and decrements in the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets.

Consolidated

Tax effect of revaluation of 
available for sale assets

Share-based payments reserve
The reserve is used to recognise the value of equity benefits provided to employees and directors as part of their
remuneration, and other parties as part of their compensation for services.

Balance at 30 June 2012

Balance at 30 June 2011

There is no current on-market share buy-back.

Lapse of options
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% change

Effect on 

profit 

before tax

Effect on 

equity % change

Effect on 

profit 

before tax

Effect on 

equity

50%  -  12,815,006 50%  -  (12,815,006)

Weighted 

average 

interest rate Balance

Weighted 

average 

interest rate Balance

% $ % $

4.36 2,760,309 4.75 3,142,175 

2,760,309 3,142,175 

Basis 

points 

change

Effect on 

profit 

before tax

Effect on 

equity

Basis 

points 

change

Effect on 

profit 

before tax

Effect on 

equity

131 36,160 36,160 131 (36,160) (36,160)

Consolidated - 2012

Cash and cash equivalents

Basis points increase Basis points decrease

An increase/decrease in interest rate of 30% or 131 percentage basis points (2011: 143 basis points) would have a
favourable/adverse affect on profit before tax as per the tables below.

2011

Price risk

The consolidated entity's only exposure to interest rate risk is in relation to deposits held. Deposits are held with
reputable banking financial institutions.

2012

As at the reporting date, the consolidated entity had the following cash and deposits outstanding.

Note 25.  Financial instruments

Market risk

Risk management is carried out by the Board. The policies employed to mitigate risk include identification and
analysis of the risk exposure of the consolidated entity and appropriate procedures, controls and risk limits. The
Board identifies risk and evaluates the effectiveness of its responses.

The consolidated entity's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk,
price risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The consolidated entity's overall risk management
program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the
financial performance of the consolidated entity. The consolidated entity uses different methods to measure different
types of risk to which it is exposed. These methods include sensitivity analysis in the case of interest rate, foreign
exchange and other price risks, ageing analysis for credit risk and beta analysis in respect of investment portfolios to
determine market risk.

The consolidated entity is exposed to a significant price risk in relation to its investment in Syrah Resources Limited.

Cash and cash equivalents

Average price increase Average price decrease

Consolidated - 2012

Shares in Syrah Resources 
Limited

Financial risk management objectives

Interest rate risk

Net exposure to cash flow interest rate risk

Consolidated
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Basis 

points 

change

Effect on 

profit 

before tax

Effect on 

equity

Basis 

points 

change

Effect on 

profit 

before tax

Effect on 

equity

143 44,776 44,776 143 (44,776) (44,776)

Weighted 
average 

interest rate
1 year or 

less
Between 1 
and 2 years

Between 2 
and 5 years Over 5 years

Remaining 
contractual 
maturities

% $ $ $ $ $

 -  21,681  -   -   -  21,681 
 -  48,756  -   -   -  48,756 

70,437  -   -   -  70,437 

Weighted 
average 

interest rate
1 year or 

less
Between 1 
and 2 years

Between 2 
and 5 years Over 5 years

Remaining 
contractual 
maturities

% $ $ $ $ $

 -  170,052  -   -   -  170,052 
 -  30,665  -   -   -  30,665 

200,717  -   -   -  200,717 

Note 25.  Financial instruments (continued)

Non-derivatives

Total non-derivatives

The cash flows in the maturity analysis above are not expected to occur significantly earlier than disclosed.

The consolidated entity manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves by continuously monitoring
actual and forecast cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

Consolidated - 2011

Cash and cash equivalents

Other payables

Non-derivatives

Trade payables

The consolidated entity's working capital, being current assets less current liabilities was $2,782,830 at 30 June 2012
(30 June 2011: $18,943,753). During the period the consolidated entity had negative net cash flows of $381,866 (30
June 2011: positive net cash flows of $556,916). Based on this the directors are satisfied that the consolidated entity
will have sufficient funds to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

Credit risk is managed on a consolidated entity basis. Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its
contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the consolidated entity. The consolidated entity has minimal
exposure to credit risk as its only receivables relate to security deposits, interest receivable, rent receivable, and GST
refunds due.

Remaining contractual maturities

Trade payables
Other payables

Consolidated - 2012

Vigilant liquidity risk management requires the consolidated entity to maintain sufficient liquid assets (mainly cash and
cash equivalents) to be able to pay debts as and when they become due and payable.

Basis points increase

Credit risk

Basis points decrease

Non-interest bearing

Total non-derivatives

Liquidity risk

Consolidated - 2011

The following tables detail the consolidated entity's remaining contractual maturity for its financial instrument liabilities.
The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date
on which the financial liabilities are required to be paid. The tables include both interest and principal cash flows
disclosed as remaining contractual maturities and therefore these totals may differ from their carrying amount in the
statement of financial position.

Non-interest bearing
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2012 2011

$ $

429,208 545,793 
67,739 76,537 

 -  14,209 

 -   -  496,947 636,539 

Balance at Received Balance at
the start of as part of Disposals/ the end of

the year remuneration Additions other the year

2,085,714  -  960,000  -  3,045,714 
2,085,714  -  960,000  -  3,045,714 

*

Note 26.  Key management personnel disclosures

The following person also had the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the major
activities of the consolidated entity, directly or indirectly, during the financial year:

Consolidated

Long-term benefits

The aggregate compensation made to directors and other members of key management personnel of the
consolidated entity is set out below:

Ordinary shares

Post-employment benefits

Mr J Dunlop

The aggregate compensation includes fees paid to Leydin Freyer Corporate Pty Ltd in respect of Company
Secretarial and Accounting Services. Ms M Leydin is director and principal of that Company.

The following persons were directors of Copper Strike Limited during the financial year:

Unless otherwise stated, the carrying amounts of financial instruments reflect their fair value. The carrying amounts of
trade receivables and trade payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature. The
fair value of financial liabilities is estimated by discounting the remaining contractual maturities at the current market
interest rate that is available for similar financial instruments.

The number of shares in the parent entity held during the financial year by each director and other members of key
management personnel of the consolidated entity, including their personally related parties, is set out below:

2012

Compensation

Ms M Leydin

Short-term employee benefits

Mr T Eadie 

During the year Mr T Eadie purchased 960,000 ordinary shares.

Shareholding

Other key management personnel

Mr T Eadie

Directors

Fair value of financial instruments

Mr B Laws

Note 25.  Financial instruments (continued)
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Balance at Received Balance at
the start of as part of Disposals/ the end of

the year remuneration Additions other the year

2,085,714  -   -   -  2,085,714 
972,000  -   -  (972,000)  -  
241,886  -   -  (241,886)  -  

3,299,600  -   -  (1,213,886) 2,085,714 

*
**

Balance at Expired/ Balance at
the start of forfeited/ the end of

the year Granted Exercised other the year

750,000  -   -  (750,000)  -  
175,000  -   -  (175,000)  -  
925,000  -   -  (925,000)  -  

*
**

2012 2011

$ $

29,000 19,000 

 -  8,000 

Audit or review of the financial statements

The amount paid in 2011 to unrelated practice relates to Leydin Freyer Audit Pty Ltd's fee for the half-year review.

Audit services - unrelated practices

Related party transactions

2011

Mr T Lees resigned on 9 February 2011.

Mr T Lees resigned on 9 February 2011.

Mr T Eadie 

Mr T Eadie *
Mr T Lees **

2012

Mr T Eadie's options lapsed during the year.

Mr T Lees **

Options over ordinary shares

Mr D Ogg resigned as Company Secretary on 6 May 2011.

Audit or review of the financial statements

Ordinary shares

As at 30 June 2012 there were no options in existence, and no options were issued to related parties during the year.

2011

Audit services - Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd

All options held are vested and exercisable.

Mr D Ogg *

Option holding

Note 26.  Key management personnel disclosures (continued)

The number of options over ordinary shares in the parent entity held during the financial year by each director and
other members of key management personnel of the consolidated entity, including their personally related parties, is
set out below:

Related party transactions are set out in note 30.

During the financial year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by Grant Thornton Audit Pty
Ltd, the auditor of the company, and unrelated firms:

Note 27.  Remuneration of auditors

Consolidated
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2012 2011

$ $

327,000 327,000 

2012 2011

$ $

160,438 2,125,000 
1,601,857 3,310,000 

 -  500,000 

 -   -  1,762,295 5,935,000 

 -  6,339 

Group's Commitments - Exploration Assets

Note 30.  Related party transactions

Within one year

In order to maintain current rights of tenure to exploration tenements, the Company and consolidated entity is required 
to outlay rentals and to meet the minimum expenditure requirements of the State Mines Departments. Minimum
expenditure commitments may be subject to renegotiation and with approval may otherwise be avoided by sale, farm
out or relinquishment. These obligations are not provided for in the accounts, but are payable.

Committed at the reporting date but not recognised as 
liabilities, payable:

Copper Strike Limited is the parent entity.

One to five years

Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 32.

Committed at the reporting date but not recognised as 
liabilities, payable:

Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 26 and the remuneration report in the directors'
report.

Within one year

Consolidated

Consolidated

Key management personnel

More than five years

Bank guarantees

Parent entity

Subsidiaries

Operating Rental Leases - Commitments for expenditure

Note 28.  Contingent liabilities

Note 29.  Commitments

The above balance relates to an Indemnity Guarantee with ANZ as at 30 June 2012.
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 Note 30.  Related party transactions (continued) 

 Transactions with related parties 
The following transactions occurred with related parties: 

 
    

Consolidated 

      
2012 

 
2011 

      
$ 

 
$ 

         Other income: 
        Rent received from Royalco Resources Limited (an 

entity related to former Company Secretary Mr David 
Ogg) 

     
 -   

 
18,079  

Rent received from Syrah Resources Limited (an entity 
related to Tom Eadie) 

     
18,000  

 
11,232  

         Payment for goods and services: 
        Payment for services from Inkprintz Pty Ltd (an entity 

related to the wife of Tom Eadie) 
     

6,825  
 

17,680  

         Payment for other expenses: 
        B & M Laws superannuation fund received 

superannuation contributions (an entity related to Barrie 
Laws) 

     
33,555  

 
36,910  

         Receivable from and payable to related parties 
The following balances are outstanding at the reporting date in relation to transactions with related parties: 

 
    

Consolidated 

      
2012 

 
2011 

      
$ 

 
$ 

         Current receivables: 
        Trade receivables from Syrah Resources Limited 
     

58,698  
 

 -   

         Loans to/from related parties 
There were no loans to or from related parties at the current and previous reporting date. 
 
Terms and conditions 
All transactions were made on normal commercial terms and conditions and at market rates. 
 

 Note 31.  Parent entity information 

 Set out below is the supplementary information about the parent entity. 

 Statement of comprehensive income 

  
Parent 

  
2012 

 
2011 

  
$ 

 
$ 

     Profit/(loss) after income tax 
 

2,065,697  
 

(1,148,995) 

     Total comprehensive income 
 

2,065,697  
 

(1,148,995) 
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2012 2011

$ $

2,860,557 19,189,818 

29,812,490 19,215,345 

77,827 251,212 

7,612,634 283,866 

11,221,753 26,180,126 
16,156,008  -  
(5,177,905) (7,248,647)

22,199,856 18,931,479 

●

2012 2011

% %

 -  100.00 
100.00 100.00 

*

Equity

The parent entity had no guarantees in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries as at 30 June 2012 and 30 June 2011.

Total current assets

Total liabilities

The accounting policies of the parent entity are consistent with those of the consolidated entity, as disclosed in note 2,
except for the following:

Capital commitments - Property, plant and equipment

Parent

Accumulated losses

Statement of financial position

Total assets

Issued capital

Total equity

Guarantees entered into by the parent entity in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost, less any impairment.

Refer to Note 25 for details of capital commitments.  All amounts disclosed relate to the parent entity.

The parent entity had no contingent liabilities at 30 June 2012 and 30 June 2011.

Note 31.  Parent entity information (continued)

Total current liabilities

Sherwood Ventures Pty Ltd Australia
Australia

Country of

Name of entity

Einasleigh Mining Pty Ltd *

Equity holding

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in
accordance with the accounting policy described in note 2:

Contingent liabilities

Available-for-sale reserve

Note 32.  Subsidiaries

incorporation

Significant accounting policies

Einasleigh Mining Pty Ltd was sold as part of the asset sale agreement to Kagara Limited regarding the disposal
of the Einasleigh project.
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Notes to the financial statements

2012 2011

$ $

 -   -  2,065,697 (1,148,995)

6,186 28,434 
16,619 18,273 
18,889 3,707 

(31,270) 1,317 
 -  (1,367,953)
 -  1,092,244 

(1,710,000)  -  

(7,464,004)  -  

(44,108) 72,767 
(1,237,708)  -  

(3,449)  -  
(130,280) 41,044 

7,490,317  -  

 -   -  (1,023,111) (1,259,162)

2012 2011

$ $

 -  977,600 

Note 33.  Events after the reporting period

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2012 that has significantly affected, or may significantly
affect the consolidated entity's operations, the results of those operations, or the consolidated entity's state of affairs
in future financial years.

Profit on sale of tenements
Impairment of asset held for sale

Consolidated

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables

On 17 September 2010, the Company issued 13,000,000 shares to Teck Australia Pty Ltd in consideration for them
relinquishing their rights to over certain assets of the Company.

Increase in deferred tax liabilities

Net cash used in operating activities

Increase in deferred tax assets

Depreciation and amortisation

Note 35.  Non-cash investing and financing activities

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables

Tax effect on revaluation of available for sale assets taken 
to equity

Increase in prepayments

Shares issued for in return for recipient relinquishing rights 
of certain Copper Strike assets

Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment

Note 34.  Reconciliation of profit/(loss) after income tax to net cash used in operating activities

Consolidated

Profit/(loss) after income tax benefit for the year

Employee entitlements

Adjustments for:

Gain on loss of significant influence

Exploration costs written off

On 17 August 2012 Superior Resources Limited (SPQ) issued 1,000,000 fully paid oridnary shares to Copper Strike
Limited (CSE) for consideration in relation to the announcement dated 19 April 2012 in which CSE agreed to abandon
its licence application EPMA 18985 to allow SPQ to proceed to grant. Under AASB5 the asset must be measured at
the lower of its carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. As at 30 June 2012 this asset was carried at $Nil
based on previous capitalised expenditure being written off.

Change in operating assets and liabilities:
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30 June 2012

Notes to the financial statements

2012 2011

$ $

2,065,697 (1,148,995)

Number Number

117,594,188 126,641,872 

117,594,188 126,641,872 

Cents Cents

1.76 (0.91)
1.76 (0.91)

The Group does not currently have any options on issue, or other dilutive items as at 30 June 2012.

Basic earnings per share

Profit/(loss) after income tax attributable to the owners of Copper Strike Limited

Diluted earnings per share

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating diluted earnings per 
share

Consolidated

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic earnings per 
share

Note 36.  Earnings per share
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Copper Strike Limited 
Directors' declaration 

In the directors' opinion: 
 
●  the attached financial statements and notes thereto comply with the Corporations Act 2001, the Australian 

Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting 
requirements;  

   
●  the attached financial statements and notes thereto comply with International Financial Reporting Standards 

as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board as described in note 1 to the financial 
statements; 

   
●  the attached financial statements and notes thereto give a true and fair view of the consolidated entity's 

financial position as at 30 June 2012 and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date; and 
   
●  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 

become due and payable. 
   
The directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001. 
  
Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors made pursuant to section 295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001. 
  
On behalf of the directors 

  
  
______________________________ 
E T Eadie 
Executive Chairman 
  
19 September 2012 
Melbourne 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Members of Copper Strike Limited 

 

Report on the financial report 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Copper Strike Limited (the 

“Company”), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 

2012, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of 

changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes 

comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information 

and the directors’ declaration of the consolidated entity comprising the Company and the 

entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year. 

Directors responsibility for the financial report 

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report 

that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the 

Corporations Act 2001  and for such internal control as the Directors determines is 

necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and 

is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Directors also state, 

in the notes to the financial report, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 

Presentation of Financial Statements, the financial statements comply with International 

Financial Reporting Standards. 

Auditor’s responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We 

conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards 

require us to comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and 

plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is 

free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 

disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
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judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 

report, whether due to fraud or error.  

In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 

Company’s preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in order to 

design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 

of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. An audit 

also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 

reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Directors, as well as evaluating the 

overall presentation of the financial report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 

a basis for our audit opinion. 

Independence 

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the 

Corporations Act 2001.   

Auditor’s opinion 

In our opinion: 

a the financial report of Copper Strike Limited is in accordance with the Corporations 

Act 2001, including: 

i giving a true and fair view of the  consolidated entity’s financial position as at 

30 June 2012 and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and 

ii complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations 

Regulations 2001. 

b the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as 

disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.  
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Report on the remuneration report  

We have audited the remuneration report included in pages 11 to 15 of the directors’ report 

for the year ended 30 June 2012. The Directors of the Company are responsible for the 

preparation and presentation of the remuneration report in accordance with section 300A of 

the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the remuneration 

report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 

Auditor’s opinion on the remuneration report 

In our opinion, the remuneration report of Copper Strike Limited for the year ended 30 

June 2012, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

 

 

GRANT THORNTON AUDIT PTY LTD 
Chartered Accountants 

 
 
 

 

B. L. Taylor 

Partner - Audit & Assurance 

 

Melbourne, 19 September 2012 
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Number

of holders

of ordinary

shares

140 
331 
304 
674 
174 

1,623 

275 

% of total

shares

Number held issued

4,973,001 4.65 
3,752,139 3.51 
3,350,000 3.14 
2,975,000 2.78 
2,265,000 2.12 
2,155,000 2.02 
2,134,105 2.00 
2,000,000 1.87 
1,670,000 1.56 
1,600,000 1.50 
1,500,000 1.40 
1,500,000 1.40 
1,450,000 1.36 
1,389,285 1.30 
1,321,714 1.24 
1,200,727 1.12 
1,200,000 1.12 
1,156,097 1.08 
1,100,000 1.03 
1,100,000 1.03 

39,792,068 37.23 

There are no unquoted equity securities.

Tanner Grant Ross

Unquoted equity securities

Phillips Stuart L + F J
Finance Associates Pty Ltd
A-Line Retirement Fund Pty Ltd

Chiodo Carlo

    5,001 to   10,000
    1,001 to     5,000
           1 to     1,000

Bond Street Custs Ltd

Marson Const Pty Ltd
Sesto Michael + S

Edna Securities Pty Ltd
On Site Laboratory Services Pty Ltd

Gasmere Pty Ltd

Copper Strike Limited

Distribution of equitable securities

30 June 2012

The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 3 September 2012.

Shareholder information

Analysis of number of equitable security holders by size of holding:

Twenty largest quoted equity security holders

Ordinary shares

Equity security holders

100,001 and over
  10,001 to 100,000

The names of the twenty largest security holders of quoted equity securities are listed below:

Holding less than a marketable parcel

Hydronomees Pty Ltd

HSBC Custody Nominees Aust Ltd

Berden Pty Ltd
Langdon Phillip C + R M
Buprestid Pty Ltd
Firinci Oguz

Baillie John Storen
Feltrim Pastoral Co Pty Ltd

Prince Raymond John
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Copper Strike Limited

30 June 2012

Shareholder information

Lucky Creek EPM 18877 100.00%
Exploration Licence 5415 EL 5415 100.00%

There are no other classes of equity securities.

Voting rights

The voting rights attached to ordinary shares are set out below:

Tenements

Interest ownedTenement numberDescription

Substantial holders

There are no substantial holders in the company.

Ordinary shares
On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll 
each share shall have one vote.
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